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I. INTRODUCTION

In February 2010, the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) and Public
Counsel filed a class action lawsuit on behalf of students at three Los Angeles
Unified School District (LAUSD) middle schools alleging that LAUSD’s pro-
posed layoff plan for the 2010 to 2011 school year violated the California Con-
stitution and state statutes.' The Complaint alleged that, as a result of seniority
protections afforded in California’s Education Code and LAUSD’s collective
bargaining agreement with the local teachers’ union, LAUSD’s implementation
of budget-based layoffs disproportionately impacts schools that serve high con-
centrations of low-income, high-minority students and English language learn-
ers.2 While ACLU, Public Counsel, and California education reform advocates
are not the first to address the need to reform teacher seniority systems, Califor-
nia is employing a nuanced tactic to address this particular issue: litigation.>

The education reform movement spans a range of issues: improving educa-
tional outcomes for students; recruiting quality teachers and administrators;
evaluating teacher effectiveness; administering student testing; reforming
teacher tenure; and reevaluating the teacher seniority system, to name a few.
Many of these issues pit the rights and responsibilities of educators against
those of students. Teacher seniority is one such topic.

Currently, strict teacher seniority statutes govern at least twelve states, with a
majority of other states delegating the decision to conduct seniority-based lay-
offs to individual school districts.® These regulations, popularly known as
“Last-in, First-out” (LIFO) policies, dictate how school districts make layoff
decisions in responding to budget shortfalls.> As a result of LIFO, when school
districts are forced to lay off their teachers, newer teachers, who are often con-
centrated in poor and minority communities, are the first teachers dismissed.®

! See generally Third Amended Complaint for Injunctive and Declaratory Relief, Reed v.
State, 2011 WL 10893745 (Cal. Super. Ct. May 4, 2010) (No. BC432420), available at
http://www.aclu-sc.org/reed [hereinafter Third Amended Complaint]. Public Counsel is a
Los Angeles-based pro bono law firm specializing in impact litigation and policy advocacy.
See PusLic CouNsEL, http://www.publiccounsel.org/home (last visited Mar. 7, 2014).

2 See generally Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1.

3 Stephen Sawchuk, Critics Ask Calif. Courts to Change Teacher Policies, Epuc. WK.,
June 6, 2012, at 21.

4 Save Great Teachers, Stubints FIRsT, hitp://www.studentsfirst.org/lifo (last visited
Mar. 29, 2014) (providing a graphic showing states’ risks of losing effective teachers due to
LIFO statutes); see also MARY DOWELL ET AL., REFORM OF SENIORITY-BASED LAYOFE
Rures For TeAacHERS: A LEGAL ANALYSIS 3 (2011) (examining state laws and practices
regarding seniority-based layoffs, with a particular emphasis on practices in California and
Connecticut, and arguing that layoffs are “quality blind,” thus disproportionately impacting
poor and minority students).

5 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 1.

6 CARRIE HAHNEL & ORVILLE JAcksoN, Epuc. TRUST-W., LEARNING DENIED: THE Casi
FOR EQuITABLE Access To EFFECTIVE TEACHING IN CALIFORNIA’S LARGEST ScHooL Dis-
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LIFO policies thus have a disparate impact on poor and minority students, who
all too often already fall at the low end of the achievement gap.” In fact, one
study found that, when schools base layoffs solely on seniority, the poorest
schools see twenty-five percent more layoffs than the wealthiest schools.® In
Los Angeles, schools in some of the city’s poorest communities were dispro-
portionately impacted by layoffs, with “[n]early one in 10 teachers in South
Los Angeles schools . . . laid off, nearly twice the rate in other areas. Sixteen
schools lost at least a fourth of their teachers, all but one of them in South or
Central Los Angeles.”

In addition to laying off a disproportionate number of teachers at lower per-
forming and higher minority schools, the system also protects many less-talent-
ed teachers, while terminating a disproportionate number of high-quality teach-
ers.'® Sampling approximately 22,000 teachers from LAUSD, one study found
that that twenty percent of English and Language Arts (ELA) and math teachers
who lost their jobs were in the top twenty-five percent of teacher performance
rankings,'" while twenty-seven percent were in the bottom quarter.'? In fact,
“nearly 2,000 ELA teachers and more than 1,500 math teachers in the lowest

TRICT 11 (2012), available at http://studentsmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/ETW-
Learning-Denied-Report1.pdf.

7 See generally id.

8 Niw TEACHER ProJicT, THE Cast: AGAINST QUALITY-BLIND TEACHER LAYOFFS: WHY
Lavort PoLicies THAT IGNORE TEACHER QuALITY NEED TOo END Now 7 (2011), available
at http:/iintp.org/assets/documents/TNTP_Case_Against_Quality_Blind_Layoffs_Feb201 {F.
pdf?filessTNTP_Case_Against_Quality_Blind_Layoffs_Feb2011F.pdf; see also SArRAH AlL-
My & CHrisTINA THEOKAS, Ebuc. Trust, NOT PREPARED FOR CLASS: HIGH-POVERTY
SchrooLs ConTINUE TO HAVE FEWER IN-FizLD TeEACHERS (2010), available at http:/fwww.
edtrust.org/sites/edtrust.org/files/publications/files/Not%20Prepared %20for%20Class.pdf;
CHRISTINA SEPE & MARGUERITE Roza, CTR. ON REINVENTING PuB. Epuc., THE DispPrROPOR-
TIONATE IMPACT OF SENIORITY-BASED LAyorrs oN Poor, MiNORITY STUDENTS (2010),
available at hitp://www.crpe.org/sites/default/files/rr_crpe_layoffs_rr9_may10_0.pdf.

9 Jason Felch et al., Grading the Teachers; Senority over Quality, L.A. Timges, Dec. 5,
2010, at Al, Al6.

10 First Amended Complaint at 17, Vergara v. State, 2013 WL 6912923 (Cal. Super. Ct.
Aug., 12 2012) (No. BC484642), available ar http://studentsmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/
2012/05/SM_First-Amended-Complaint_08.15.12.pdf [hereinafter First Amended Com-
plaint].

' HAHNEL & JACKSON, supra note 6, at 4. The study uses value-added scores to measure
teacher performance, separating out “the role that non-school factors, including family back-
ground can play in student performance. Using three years of teacher data and six years of
student data from the California Standards Test (CST) obtained from LAUSD,” the model
generates value-added scores from more than 12,000 English-language arts teachers in
grades three through eleven and more than 10,000 math teachers in grades three through
eight for the 2008, 2009, and 2010 school years. Id.

12 /4. at 11.
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quartile kept their jobs.”"?

In states that deem education a “fundamental right” or guarantee students
“equitable” or *“adequate” education opportunities, inflexible applications of se-
niority provisions to determine layoffs violate the constitutional and statutory
rights of students disproportionately harmed by resulting teacher turnover and
school instability. In such instances, states should prioritize the rights of stu-
dents over those of teachers.

This Note examines efforts to reform state seniority systems and layoff rules
to ensure that students realize the equitable educational opportunities guaran-
teed to them, using impact litigation in California as its primary case study.
Section I examines the relevant legal background behind seniority reform. Sec-
tion ILA situates the debate in a federal context, explaining that, while the last
ten to fifteen years have seen increased federal concern with reforming
America’s education system, the issue of teacher seniority and staffing has
largely remained under state control. Section IL.B examines how courts have
interpreted children’s right to education in the context of the Supreme Court’s
holding that states are free define education rights as they see fit because the
Constitution does not secure, as a fundamental right, any baseline quality of
education.'* Many states, including California, deem the right to adequate and
equitable educational opportunities a fundamental right of all citizens.'> As
such, a finding of a disparity in educational opportunities may result in a state
constitutional violation.'® Section ILC explains how school districts apply
LIFO statutes to determine the order in which teachers are hired, transferred,
and fired. It further examines how using LIFO-based policies to govern layoffs
disparately diminish'? the quality of education states provide to poor and mi-
nority students.'® Because LIFO policies dictate that newer teachers are the first
to receive pink slips, schools are staffed with a series of rotating substitutes,
teachers who do not have the proper credentials, or teachers who simply do not
want to teach such populations.'® Section IL.D examines the California’s LIFO-
based layoff system, with a focus on how layoffs affect LAUSD. As a result of
the significantly high number and uneven distribution of layoffs in LAUSD and
California, two class action lawsuits—Reed v. State and Vergara v. State—are
currently pending in California’s courts to address the constitutionality of the

13 1d.

14" Although the cases cited pertain directly to school finance systems, as opposed to
teacher seniority systems, because such claims were brought upon the grounds of dispropor-
tionate impacts of such systems on poor and/or minority students, the courts’ reasoning is
equally applicable.

15 Serrano v. Priest, 557 P.2d 929, 951 (Cal. 1977)

16 Buit v. State, 842 P.2d 1240, 1249 (Cal. 1992)

17 Serrano, 487 P.2d at 1244 (recognizing a disparate impact standard for educational
disparities).

18 HAHNEL & JACKsON, supra note 6, at 11.

19 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 16.
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state’s use of LIFO policies when making layoff decisions. This background
material concludes in Section ILE, with an examination of how other states
have addressed the shortfalls of LIFO statutes through legislative reform.

Section 111 argues that, because LIFO policies as currently applied in Califor-
nia and other states generate inadequate and inequitable educational opportuni-
ties for poor and minority students, states who deem education a fundamental
right or mandate equitable or adequate educational opportunities fall short of
fulfilling their responsibilities to resident children. Section IIL.A argues that
California’s school districts are ignoring the statutory authorization in Califor-
nia Education Code section 44955(d)(2), that allows school districts “skip”
newer teachers when making layoff determinations in the event that firing such
teachers would interfere with students’ state constitutional rights.?’ The current
system disparately harms educational opportunities and, in so doing, violates
students’ fundamental rights. Therefore, in order to remedy these violations the
state and school districts must, at a minimum, employ section 44955(d)(2), to
comply with state constitutional requirements. If districts continue to ignore
section 44955(d)(2), however—which is very likely given California’s political
climate*’—then California should cease to apply seniority as its sole means of
determining layofts, and its courts should hold such a strict application of se-
niority unconstitutional.

Section III.B provides alternatives to a “skipping” exception or a complete
repeal of LIFO statutes: using legislation as a method to reform LIFO systems.
Finally, Section III.C argues that the best route to reform in California is
through the use of impact litigation, rather than repeal or amendment of LIFO
statutes. This is because state and local teachers unions have shown an unwill-
ingness to come to the table to negotiate the reform of LIFO and the layoff
process. Section IV concludes by calling for open and productive dialogue
among all stakeholders in the education arena—teachers, school districts, legis-
lators, unions, parents, and students—as the first of many necessary steps to
reform the current system into one that properly balances students’ rights and
teachers’ needs.

II. LecaL BACKGROUND

A. State and Federal Roles in Reforming Our Education System

The federal government is increasing its involvement in education reform

20 Car. Epuc. CopE § 44955(d)(2) (West 2011).

21 See Michael J. Mishak, A Capitol Force, L.A. TimMes, Aug. 19, 2012, at Al (stating
that the California Teacher’s Association is one of the states most powerful lobbyist groups,
spending more than $200 million on political campaigns and lobbying expenses between
2000 and 2009); Darren Fishel, Huff Bill Targeting Teacher Seniority Defeated, ARCADIA
Parcu (May 12, 2011, 2:47 PM), http://arcadia.patch.com/groups/politics-and-elections/p/
huff-bili-targeting-teacher-seniority-defeated-2 (reporting on the California Teacher Associa-
tion’s defeat of a teacher senior bill).
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efforts.?? In 2001, the Bush Administration reauthorized the Elementary and
Secondary Education Act (ESEA) as the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB).?
The enactment of the NCLB expanded “federal influence over educational de-
cision making.”?* The NCLB includes provisions regarding tracking of student
achievement, accountability of schools and school districts, and sanctioning un-
derperforming schools and school districts receiving federal education fund-
ing.?> While the NCLB attempted to reform issues surrounding unions and col-
lective bargaining, however, collective bargaining ultimately remained in local
control.”?

The Obama Administration continues to assert federal influence over the ed-
ucation system.”” Through the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009 (ARRA), the Administration encouraged states to reform their public
school systems through competitive grant programs such as Race to the Top
(RTTT) and the School Improvement Grant (SIG).2® RTTT prioritized re-
forming teacher accountability measures and SIG required grant recipients to
implement one of four reform models to revitalize low-performing schools.?
The Administration based its blueprint for reforming the ESEA on ARRA pro-
grams, and outlined a plan for improving educational outcomes for American

22 See generally 20 U.S.C. § 6301 (2012) (calling for reforms which “ensure that all
children have a fair, equal, and significant opportunity to obtain a high-quality education”
through parent participation, teacher accountability, professional development and greater
school and administrator autonomy); Education Jobs Fund, Pub. L. No. 111-226, § 101, 124
Stat. 2389 (2010) (allocating $10,000,000,000 from the U.S. Treasury to be reserved for
paying salaries and benefits, and rehiring, retaining or hiring employees for the school year.
This was part of the Obama Administration’s economic recovery efforts); American Recov-
ery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, Pub. L. No. 111-5, 123 Stat. 115 (providing
$3,950,000,000 for training and employment services); U.S. Der’t or EpuC., A BLUEPRINT
FOR REFORM: REAUTHORIZING THE ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY EpucaTion Act (2011)
(outlining the Obama Administration’s goals in regards to “(1) Improving teacher and princi-
pal effectiveness to ensure that every classroom has a great teacher and every school has a
great leader; (2) Providing information to families to help them evaluate and improve their
children’s schools, and to educators to help them improve their students’ learning; (3) Imple-
menting college- and career-ready standards and developing improved assessments aligned
with those standards; and (4) Improving student learning and achievement in America’s low-
est-performing schools by providing intensive support and effective interventions.”)

23 20 U.S.C. § 6301.
24

DoOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 5.

25 Id.

26 14,

27 See generally Education Jobs Fund, Pub. L. No. 111-226, § 101, 124 Stat. 2389
(2010); American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, Pub. L. No. 111-5, 123 Stat 115.
U.S. Depr’T. or Epuc., supra note 22.

28 American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, Pub. L. No. 111-5, 123 Stat. 115.
22 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 6.
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students that raised U.S. competitiveness in the global education arena.*°

In the summer of 2010, Congress addressed the issue of preserving educa-
tion-related jobs.?' In framing “Education Jobs” legislation, policymakers “con-
sidered whether the legislation should prohibit, as a condition of accepting fed-
eral funds, teacher layoffs from being conducted solely based on seniority,”
with supporters contending that federal funds should preserve the jobs of the
“most effective, not the most senior, teachers.”>> The Education Jobs Fund was
passed absent this provision.®

Although the past decade has seen the federal government increasingly try to
assert its influence in the education arena, federal reform efforts also recognize
that states and school districts have individual needs that a single formula can-
not feasibly address.>* Thus, meaningful education reform, as a practical mat-
ter, might vary widely across states and school districts.>> One example of edu-
catton reform adapting to its surrounding circumstances is in the arena of
teacher seniority and the extent of its effect on hiring and layoff practices. In
this arena, the federal government’s growing influence “has failed to result in
any meaningful impact,” as evidenced by NCLB and the Education Jobs bill’s
failed attempts to pass with clauses addressing seniority.’® While it remains in
the domain of state governments to promulgate and amend social legislation,>’
California remains unsuccessful at amending its seniority statute through the
legislative process,*® instead relying on impact litigation to stimulate reform.>

B. The Right to Education

1. Education Is Not a Fundamental Right Under the Federal Constitution

The Supreme Court of the United States held in San Antonio Independent
School District v. Rodriguez that education is not a fundamental right guaran-
teed by the United States Constitution.*® The promuigation of social legislation,

30 See U.S. Der't or Epuc., supra note 22.

31" See Education Jobs Fund § 101.

32 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 6.

B Id

34 San Antonio Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 1, 37 (1973) (stating that social
legislation is reserved for the states); U.S. DEP’T oF Epuc., supra note 22, at 3 (“States may
choose to upgrade their existing standards or work together with other states to develop and
adopt common, state-developed standards.”).

35 Rodriguez, 411 U.S. at 37; see also U.S. Der’t or Epuc., supra note 22, at 3.

36 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 6.

37 Rodriguez, 411 U.S. at 35.

3% John Fensterweld, No Layoff Help for Troubled Schools, TuoucuTs oN Pus. Ebuc.
(Sept. 1, 2010), http://toped.svefoundation.org/2010/09/01/bill-to-shield-schools-from-lay-
offs-defeated.

39 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 3.

49 Rodriguez., 411 U.S. at 35. Rodriguez was a class action brought on behalf of school
children “who were said to be members of poor families residing in school districts having
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the Court concluded, is reserved for the states.*’ As the Court explained, “at
least where wealth is involved, the Equal Protection Clause does not require
absolute equality or precisely equal advantages.”*? The existence of “some ine-
quality” is insufficient to strike down an entire system.*> That other methods
exist which would result in “less drastic” inequalities is an insufficient reason
to strike down a state or local system.** However, a less restrictive alternative
must be employed “where state action impinges on the exercise of fundamental
constitutional rights or liberties.”> Thus, under Rodriguez’s holding, it remains
the responsibility of the states to deem education a fundamental right or provide
other protections against education inequality.*®

2. State Educational Rights and Judicial Interpretations

Although Rodriguez held that education is not a fundamental right, states
retain broad discretion to prescribe additional fundamental rights not protected
under the U.S. Constitution.*’ The Supreme Court recognized that “education is
perhaps the most important function of state and local governments.”® States
define such rights through the promulgation of state constitutions and statutes.*
A number of state constitutions and education codes contain clauses affording
all pupils in the public school system “equitable,” “general and uniform,” or
“thorough and efficient” educational opportunities, regardless of disability,
gender, nationality, race, or ethnicity.>

low property tax base.” Id. at 1. The plaintiffs challenged Texas’ reliance on a school financ-
ing system on local property taxation under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment, claiming that the “system’s reliance on local property taxation favors the more
affluent and violates equal protection requirements because of substantial interdistrict dispar-
ities in per-public expenditures resulting primarily from differences in the value of assessa-
ble property among the districts.” Id. at 2.

41 Id. at 37.

42 Id. at 24.

43 Id. at 51 (citing McGowan v. Maryland, 366 U.S. 420, 425-26 (1961)).

“4 1

S 1d

46 See id.

47 See, e.g., id. at 31 (citing Shapiro v. Thompson, 394 U.S. 618, 655 (1969)).

48 Brown v. Bd. of Educ., 347 U.S. 483, 493 (1954).

49 See e.g., ARk. CoNsT. art. 14, § 1 (2013); CaL. Epuc. Cope § 200 (West 2012); GA
Consr. art. VIII, § 1, 1 (2013); N.J. Consr. art. VIII, § 4, § 1 (West 2013).

50 See, e.g., ArRk. ConsT. art. 14, § 1 (“[T]he State shall ever maintain a general, suitable
and efficient system of free public schools and shall adopt all suitable means to secure to the
people the advantages and opportunities of education.”); Cai. Epuc. § 200 (“It is the policy
of the State of California to afford all persons in public schools, regardless of their disability,
gender, gender identity, gender expression, nationality, race or ethnicity, religion, sexual
orientation, or any other characteristic . . . equal rights and opportunities in the educational
institutions of the state.”); GA Consr. art. VIII, § 1, { [ (“The provision of an adequate
public education for the citizens shall be a primary obligation of the State of Georgia.”); N.J.
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Many states have addressed the issue of educational rights in the context of
school finance reform.>' For example, the Supreme Court of California ex-
amined California’s school financing system, “which relies heavily on local
property taxes and causes substantial disparities among individual school dis-
tricts in the amount of revenue available per pupil for the districts’ educational
programs.” In Serrano v. Priest,”® the court found that, because the state fi-
nancing system prevented districts with smaller tax bases from “spend[ing] as
much money per child for education as districts with larger assessed valua-
tions,” it was unconstitutional under both the Equal Protection Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and the California Constitu-
tion.>* While the Serrano court addressed the issue of educational equality in
the context of school finance reform, however, it noted that the “right to an
education in our public schools is a fundamental interest which cannot be con-
ditioned on wealth.”%

Other states have relied on explicit education provisions embodied in their
constitutions to address the issue of educational rights. Relying on provisions
concerning education, some state supreme courts have found that “education is
a fundamental right for state equal protection purposes.”® As such, these courts
held that their states must provide all public school students with equitable
educational opportunities.’” For example, the Supreme Court of Tennessee
found that that state must afford students “substantially equal educational op-
portunities,”® and the Supreme Court of Vermont held that it “must ensure
substantial equality of educational opportunity.”

Other states have interpreted more ambiguous terms in their constitutions,
such as “general and uniform” or “thorough and efficient” to mandate educa-
tional adequacy, equity, or both.®® When the basis for a claim of unconstitution-

Consr. art. VIII, § 4, § 1 (“The Legislature shall provide for the maintenance and support of
a thorough and efficient system of free public schools for the instruction of all the children in
the State . . . .”).

St Richard Briffault, Adding Adequacy to Equity, in Schoor. MONEY TRIALS: THE LEGAL
PursuiT ofF EpucaTioNaL ApeEQuAacy 25, 26 (Martin R. West & Paul E. Peterson eds.,
2007).

52 Serrano v. Priest, 487 P.2d 1241, 1244 (Cal. 1971).

33 1d.

34 Id.

35 1d.

56 Briffault, supra note 51, at 26 (referencing Robinson v. Cahill, 303 A.2d 273 (N.J.
1973)).

57T 1d.

58 Tenn. Small Sch. Sys. v. McWherter, 851 S.W.2d 139, 156 (Tenn. 1993).

3% Brigham v. State, 692 A.2d 384 (Vt. 1997).

60 E.g., Lake View Sch. Dist. No. 25 v. Huckabee, 91 S.W.3d 472, 484 (Ark. 2002)
(observing that “general, suitable, and efficient” mandates adequacy and equality); Campbell
Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. State, 907 P.2d 1238, 1258 (Wyo. 1995) (concluding that the “complete
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ality of a particular educational practice is a state constitutional or statutory
provision—as opposed to state equal protection clauses—the “constitutional
case for reform” is more legitimately based in a theory of inadequacy.®’ Ade-
quacy leaves room for some inequality while still recognizing and seeking to
remedy the vast disparities in educational opportunities provided district wide
or state wide.%

When measuring adequacy, a court typically compares the quality of educa-
tion in a plaintiff’s district or school to the quality provided in others.®* Courts
may measure quality by inputs such as class size or teacher qualifications, or
outputs such as student achievement or dropout rates.** Substantial inequalities
are treated as “powerful evidence of inadequacy.”® Other courts may empha-
size that because the “central purpose of the state constitution’s education man-
date is to enable children to compete successfully after graduation,” if students
cannot compete with their peers, the educational system is inadequate.® In
some states like California, however, adequacy and equity go hand in hand.®’

When state constitutions guarantee at least some level of balanced education-
al opportunities for all children in the public school system, such as the Califor-
nia Constitution, it is the duty of the state to ensure that statutes that include
seniority protections do not encroach on these rights. This is particularly true in
states like California where the California Supreme Court ruled in Serrano that
education is a “fundamental right” under California law.®®

In Butt v. State, the California Supreme Court defined the substance of this
fundamental right as follows:

[T]he State charter accords broader rights against State-maintained educa-
tional discrimination than does federal law . . . . California constitutional
principles require State assistance to correct basic “interdistrict” disparities
in the system of common schools, even when the discriminatory effect

and uniform” and “thorough and efficient” standards mandate equality). While “equity and
adequacy are distinct legal theories, judicial approaches to adequacy clearly have been
shaped by equity concerns,” where “significant inequalities are treated as powerful evidence
of inadequacy.” Briffauit, supra note 51, at 27-31.

61 Briffault, supra note 51, at 25.

62 1d.

63 Id. at 27.

64 Id.

65 Id.

66 Jd. at 28 (citing Rose v. Council for a Better Educ., 790 S.W.2d 186, 212 (K.Y. 1989)
(“[A]n efficient system of education must have . . . sufficient levels of academic or vocation-
al skills to enable public school students to compete favorably with their counterparts.”);
Abbot v. Burke 11, 575 A.2d 359 (N.J. 1990) (emphasizing that adequacy must allow disad-
vantaged children to compete against their wealthier peers in more affluent districts).

67 See Butt v. State, 842 P.2d 1240 (Cal. 1992).

68 Serrano v. Priest, 557 P.2d 929, 951 (Cal. 1977).
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was not produced by the purposeful conduct of the State or its agents.*

The court held that “a finding of constitutional disparity depends on the indi-
vidual facts.””® “[U]nless the actual quality of the district’s program, viewed as
a whole, falls fundamentally below prevailing statewide standards,” as mea-
sured by statewide testing and achievement levels, “no constitutional violation
occurs.””! While the standard set forth in Buzt examines interdistrict differ-
ences, the same analysis applies to a program that produces intradistrict dispari-
ties.”” Examining student achievement levels across a single school district pro-
vides part of the analysis used to determine whether the individual facts support
a finding of “constitutional disparity.””®> While courts do not always address
both adequacy and equity arguments, no state court has found that its state was
providing adequate education that was unconstitutionally unequal.’* Thus,
while some states may only guarantee “adequacy” in education, California
guarantees both adequacy and equity.”

C. Teacher Seniority Systems and “Last-In, First-Out” Protections
1. How LIFO Operates

At least twelve states’® maintain statutes requiring that school districts con-
duct layoffs based solely on seniority.”” Some of these states’ provide for ex-
ceptions to this general requirement.” Others may leave layoff decisions to the
discretion of the school districts.® Since 2011, many states have passed legisla-
tion reforming their teacher seniority in staffing policies.?!

6 Bur, 842 P.2d at 1249.

70 Id. at 1252.

N d.

72 See generally Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1 (applying Butt’s analysis to
LAUSD’s intradistrict disparities).

73 Butt, 842 P.2d at 1252.

74 Briffault, supra note 51, at 31.

75 See Butt, 842 P.2d at 1240.

76 ALASKA STAT. § 14.20.177 (2013); CaL. Epuc. Cobr: § 44955 (West 2013); Haw.
Rev. StaT. § 302A-609 (2013); Ky. REV. STAT. ANN. § 161.800 (West 2013); MINN. STAT.
§ 122A.40 (2013); N.J. StaT. ANnN. § 18A:28 (West 2013); N.Y. Epuc. Law § 2510 (Mc-
Kinney 2014); Or. REv. STAT. § 342.934 (2013); 24 Pa. ConsT. StaT. § 11-1125.1 (2014);
R.I. Gen. Laws ANN. § 16-13-6 (2013); W. Va. Cope § 18A-2-2 (2013); Wis. StaT.
§ 118.23 (2013); see also StupenTs FIRST, supra note 4. (providing a graphic showing
states’ risk of losing effective teachers due to LIFO statutes).

77 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 3.

78 E.g., ALaska STAT. § 14.20.177; CaL. Ebuc. Copr § 44955(d); Or. Rev. STAT.
§ 342,934,

79 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 3.

80 F.g., 105 IL.. Comp. STAT. 5/24-12 (2013); Mo. Riv. StaT. § 168.221 (2013).

81 E.g., 150 ILL. Comp. STAT. 5/24-1.5;12 (2013) (stating that “length of continued ser-
vice” shall not be a factor in filling new or vacant positions and that, while seniority is still a
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When school districts must reduce their workforce, the application of strict
seniority dictates that the newest teachers are almost always cut first.®? This
LIFO policy ignores any factor other than seniority, including teacher perform-
ance, in effect “treating teachers like interchangeable parts.”®* To determine the
order in which teachers are laid off, school districts create a “seniority list,”
listing years of service, and such factors as credentials, specialties, and federal
NCLB qualifications.®* Based on this list, the school board dismisses teachers,
providing them with a reduction-in-force (RIF) notice, in an order of reverse
seniority.®> Seniority statutes provide either few or no exceptions to the sys-
tem.%¢

California’s layoff process is representative of states that only consider se-
niority, absent some exceptions, in making layoff determinations. While it is
true that that NCLB requires states to train and recruit “high quality teachers”
to teach in Title T schools®” in order to qualify for federal funding, seniority lists

factor in determining reductions-in-force, collection bargaining agreements may provide for
other means. However, “this provision shail not impair the operation of any affirmative
action program in the district”); Mass. GiEN. Law. ANnN. ch. 71, § 42 (West 2014) (“No
teacher with [professional teacher] status shall be displaced by a more senior teacher with
such status in accordance with the terms of a collective bargaining agreement or otherwise
unless the more senior teacher is currently qualified pursuant to section thirty-eight G for the
junior teacher’s position.”); MicH. Comp. Laws AnN. § 380.1248 (West 2014) (“[Tlhe
board of a school district or intermediate school district shall not adopt, implement, maintain,
or comply with a policy that provides that length of service or tenure status is the primary or
determining factor in personnel decisions when conducting a staffing or program reduction
or any other personnel determination resulting in the elimination of a position, when con-
ducting a recall from a staffing or program reduction or any other personnel determination
resulting in the elimination of a position, or in hiring after a staffing or program reduction or
any other personnel determination resuiting in the elimination of a position.”); OHi0 REv.
Cobne AnN. § 3399.111 (West 2014) (“Seniority shall not be the basis for a decision to retain
a teacher, except when making a decision between teachers who have comparable evalua-
tions.”).

82 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 3.

83 New TeacHiR PrROJECT, supra note 8, at 1.

84 See, e.g., Bledsoe v. Biggs Unified Sch. Dist., 170 Cal. Rptr. 3d 13, 24 (Cal. App.
2008). These additional factors, beyond years of service, are included in seniority lists (1) in
anticipation of seniority “ties,” where the district must choose between laying off teachers
with equal years of experience; or (2) in instances where LIFO statutes provide allow dis-
tricts to skip newer teachers if such teachers possess specialized skills that only they can fill.
E.g., CaL. Epuc. Cobk § 44955(d)(1) (West 2011).

85 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 1.

86 Id. at 3.

87 Title I schools are those with forty percent or more low-income students, as measured
by participation in the federal free and reduced lunch program. Fast Facts, INsST. oF EpUC.
Sci., http://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.as?id=158 (last visited Mar. §, 2014). The goal of
Title I is to “ensure that all children have a fair, equal and significant opportunity to obtain a
high-quality education and reach, at a minimum, proficiency on challenging State academic
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in California do not take into account teacher performance.®® Under NCLB, in
order to meet high quality standards, teachers must “(1) have at least a bache-
lor’s degree from an accredited institution; (2) hold the appropriate state certifi-
cation for each ESEA core academic subject®® taught; and (3) demonstrate sub-
ject-matter competence for each ESEA core academic subject they teach.”®
These qualifications are California’s baseline measure of quality—they do not
include performance-based measures and thus are not included in seniority de-
cisions.”!

California law codifies seniority in statute, providing “certificated” employ-
ees (such as teachers, counselors, librarians, administrators, and nurses) with
“vested rights in being retained” ahead of those with less seniority.”> The Cali-
fornia Education Code provides that, barring statutory exceptions, a permanent
employee—an employee whose position requires certification and who has
been in a certified position for three consecutive years®>—may not be terminat-
ed while an “employee with less seniority, is retained to render a service which
said permanent employee is certificated and competent to render.”** The code
also provides a limited number of exceptions.”> A school district “may deviate
from terminating . . . in order of seniority” if:

The district demonstrates a specific need for personnel to teach a specific
course or course of study, or to provide services authorized by a services
credential with a specialization in either pupil personnel services . . . and
that the certificated employee has special training and experience necessa-
ry to teach that course or course of study or to provide those services
which others with more seniority do not possess.

For purposes of maintaining or achieving compliance with constitutional

standards,” which can be achieve by closing the achievement gap between “minority and
nonminority students, and between disadvantaged children and their more advantaged
peers.” 20 U.S.C. § 6301 (2012).

88 See Cal. Epuc. Cope § 44955(d).

8 In California, ESEA core academic subjects are defined as (1) English-language arts,
(2) mathematics, (3) biological sciences, (4) chemistry, (5) geosciences, (6) physics, (7) so-
cial science, (8) foreign languages, (9) drama/theater, (10) visual arts, and (11) music. CaL.
Dep’T oF Epuc., ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY EDUCATION AcCT TEACHER REQUIREMENTS
REsoUrcE GuIDE 2-3 (2011) (citing Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, Pub.
L. No. 89-10, § 1111(b)(8)(c), 79 Stat. 27 (codified as amended at 20 U.S.C. §§ 6301-78
(2012))).

% Id.

ol DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 8 (citing Forker v. Bd. of Trustees, 160 Cal. App. 3d
13, 19 (Cal. Ct. App. 1984)).

92 Bledsoe v. Biggs Unified Sch. Dist., 170 Cal. Rptr. 3d 13, 20 (Cal. App. 2008).

93 Cai Epuc. Cope § 44929.21 (West 2011).

94 Id. § 44955 (emphasis added).

9 Id.
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requirements related to equal protection of the laws.%®

Thus, unless a school district can demonstrate that an educator with a spe-
cialized skill set is needed to carry out a task that a more senior teacher is
incapable of performing, or unless the only remedy for a constitutional viola-
tion is deviation from seniority, California school districts may not deviate
from seniority lists when making layoff determinations. A school district does
not “have discretion to consider ‘quality of work performance’ in a layoff.”’

2. Experience Trumps Quality

When LIFO-based policies govern layoffs, students who attend high-poverty
(or low-income)®® and high-minority schools are disproportionately harmed by
high teacher turnover.®® In districts where seniority governs hiring, firing, and
other staffing decisions, teachers with more experience tend to choose open
positions in wealthier and low-minority communities.'® “Partly due to teacher
collective bargaining agreements, teachers who have been” teaching in the dis-
trict longer are “able to move and work in schools of their choosing.”'®! As a
result, “the poorest schools typically review the fewest applicants—many of
whom lack the experience typical of applicants in wealthier schools.”!%?

Nationally, teachers with less experience—who are statistically less effective
than their more experienced counterparts—disproportionately teach low-in-
come and high-minority students.'®® Although not all first-year teachers are of
poor quality, even those who are “good” at the outset of their careers continue
to “grow stronger after their first year in the classroom.”'® When “among
schoolhouse variables, teacher quality has the single most significant impact on
student achievement,” students with newer teachers are at an increased risk that
“their achievement will suffer.”!%

In urban centers and small towns, in particular, first-year teachers are as-
signed to high-poverty schools at “almost twice the rate that they are assigned

%6 Id. § 44955(d)(1)-(2).

97 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 8 (citing Forker v. Bd. of Trustees, 160 Cal. App. 3d
13, 19 (Cal. Ct. App. 1984)).

%8 As measured by the percentage of students who qualify for National School Lunch
Program (NSLP), better know as the “free and reduced-lunch” program.

99 See generally Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1.

100 Skpi & Roza, supra note 8, at 2.

101 1d.

102 jd. at 2-3.

103 ALmy & THEEOKAS supra note 8, at 3 (noting that in cities, whereas 4.4% of teachers
in low-poverty schools are brand-new, 8.2% of teachers are brand-new in high-poverty
schools). /d. (citing a U.S. Dep’t. of Educ. 2007-2008 school and staffing survey).

104 14,

195 Jd. “School house variables” are distinguishable from variables such as “parent en-
gagement,” which is consider to be a factor contributing to school achievement outside the
school house walls. /d.
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to low poverty schools.”!% Thus, schools with large low-income and minority
populations are more likely to experience high teacher turnover when LIFO-
based layoff policies force districts to terminate newer teachers.'”” Teacher
turnover means that “the process of building and sustaining relationships™ and
site-specific professional development “starts anew,” and reassigned teachers
who may not be happy with new assignments put in less effort, destabilizing
schools and affecting student achievement.'*®

In eleven of California’s fifteen largest school districts,'® less experienced
teachers are more likely to teach students attending schools in the highest-pov-
erty and highest-minority quartiles.''® Teachers at risk for layoffs are more
heavily concentrated in high-minority and high-poverty schools.''! In fact,
“where seniority-based layoffs are applied for teachers up to two years experi-
ence . . . high poverty schools will lose some 30% more teachers than wealthier
counterparts.”!'? High-minority schools are at risk of losing sixty percent more
teachers than those schools with fewer minorities.!!® This is true in other states
as well: high-poverty schools in forty-three out of Texas’s fifty districts had a
more “novice” teachers than low-poverty schools; in forty-two out of those
fifty districts, a greater amount of novice teachers taught in the highest-minori-
ty than in the lowest-minority schools.!!

Such disparities were particularly pronounced in the three LAUSD schools—
Gompers, Liechty, and Markham middle schools—which were at the center of
the class action lawsuit in Reed v. State.''® During the 2008-2009 school year,
teachers at Gompers, Liechty, and Markham (the plaintiffs’ schools) had an
average number of 5.0, 3.5, and 7.2 years of teaching experience, respectively,
as compared to an average of 11.6 years across LAUSD and 13.1 years state-
wide.''® When budget shortfalls forced the LAUSD to issue pink slips that year,
forty-six to sixty percent of the teaching staff at the three middle schools re-
ceived RIF notices.'"” District wide, LAUSD sent RIF notices to an average

106 Id

107 Id.

108 Sgpr & Roza, supra note 8, at 2.

109 Id. at 4-5 (discussing teacher experience data from the 2008-2009 school year provid-
ed by the California Department of Education); see also DataQuest, Cai.. Dep’T oF Epuc,,
http://datal.cde.ca.gov/dataquest (last updated Nov. 8, 2013).

10 Sppg & Roza, supra note 8, at 5.

N id. at 4,

112 Id

13 Id. at 5.

14 14 at 3-4.

115 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 14-15.

116 Id.

117 Twenty-one of Liechty’s 47 RIF-ed teachers, 20 of Gomper's 38 RIF-ed teachers, and
17 of Markham’s 33 RIF-ed teachers were rehired as long term substitutes the following
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17.9% teachers.''® As compared to the plaintiffs’ schools’ RIF rate, however,
three middle schools in more affluent communities experienced a RIF rate of
one to seven percent.'"?

RIFed teachers from other LAUSD schools filled the remaining vacancies at
the plaintiff’s schools:

LAUSD thus replaced teachers who specifically trained for and wanted to
teach in Plaintiffs’ schools, who had experience teaching at Plaintiffs’
schools, and who had invested time and energy building relationships and
trusts with Plaintiffs, with teachers who did not necessarily want to be in
these schools. In many instances, the teachers from the rehire list refused
to accept the positions, further delaying placement of a permanent teacher
in the classroom.'?

When schools could not fill vacant positions, they were forced to use short-
term substitutes.'?! Under state law, short-term substitutes cannot substitute for
a single teacher for longer than thirty days, unless they are fully credentialed to
teach in the subject area in which they are substituting.'** As a result, students
were forced to attend classes that were staffed by as many as ten rotating sub-
stitutes, many without the proper training or credentials.'?® Rotating substitutes
“precluded the development of coherent lesson plans and prevented the creation
of adequate student records . . . . With this level of instability and discontinuity
in a classroom . . . [t]he classrooms were effectively reduced to nothing more
than childcare.”"* It became impossible effectively, or even adequately, to
teach students state-content standards and reach student achievement goals.!?’

The United States Department of Education found that as “[c]ompared with
other schools, traditionally disadvantaged schools . . . had higher percentages of
teachers who were not considered highly qualified” under NCLB standards
when measured during 2006 and 2007.'%° Even if NCLB-qualified permanent
teachers fill vacant positions in high-minority, low-income schools, however,
many replacements are “misassigned” to classrooms where they do not have
the requisite certification or training to teach the subject matter or at the grade

school year. At each of these schools, however, 16 to 33% of the schools’ teaching positions
remained vacant at the beginning of the 2009-2010 school year. Id.

118 d at 15.

19 4. These three middle schools are located in the communities of Chatsworth, North
Hollywood, and Northridge. Id.

120 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 16.

121 ld.

122 Id

123 14, at 17.

124 |4 at 17-18.

125 See id. at 18.

126 U S. Dep’T oF Epuc., STATE AND LocAL IMPLEMENTATION OF THE No CHILD LeFT
Beuing Act: VoLume II—TeacHER Quanity Unpier NCLB: FINAL REPORT, at xxvi
(2009).
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level'?” to which they are reassigned.'”® According to data compiled by Califor-
nia’s Commission on Teacher Credentialing;

Every year in California, public school administrators assign thousands of
teacher to classes for which they lack the credentials or legal authorization
to teach . . . . Nearly 1 in 10 teachers or certificated personnel—more than
32,000 school employees—did not have the credentials or authorization
for their positions from 2007 through 2011 . . . . In the 2010-11 school
year, more than 12,000 teachers and certificated personnel at more than
1,000 low-performing schools served in positions they should not have
held.'”

Interviews and research attribute these “misassignments” to stafting turnover
and shortages, insufficient resources, and poor planning and mismanage-
ment.'*® Teachers who are laid off and later reassigned “are not always quali-
fied in the subjects or available in the locations that schools need.”’3' Thus,
even when schools can find a permanent replacement who meets the minimum
“highly qualified” standard under NCLB, such teachers may still fall into this
misassigned category, reducing the quality of learning students receive.

Teacher quality is a significant predictor of state-level student achieve-
ment."*? In fact, “while student demographic characteristics are strongly related

127 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 19. The “rehire” list for middle schools
includes teachers with only elementary school or high school experience “who are not famil-
iar with subject content or state standards or with challenges dealing with middle school
students. The learning curve for these teachers is extremely steep. These teachers generally
struggle with classroom management and instructional quality suffers as a result.” Id.

128 See id. (“At Gompers, the total teacher misassignments rose from 100 in 2008—2009
to 152 after the RIF. The number of teachers misassigned to teach English learners rose from
47 to 63. At Markham, the total rose from 112 to 216 and for English learners from 50 to 99.
At Liechty, the total rose from 283 to 317 and for English leaners from 35 to 56. The RIF
therefore reversed tends reducing the number of misassignments at Plaintiffs’ schools. By
contrast, the RIF actually resulted in fewer misassignments of teachers at LAUSD schools.
For example, at Revere Middle School I Pacific Palisades, the number dropped by 53%; at
Burroughs Middle School in Hancock Park, by 5%; and at Palms Middle School, by 15%.”).

129 14,

130 See id.

131 See id.

132 ] inda Darling-Hammond, Teacher Quality and Student Achievement: A Review of
State Policy Evidence, Epuc. PoL’y ANALYSIS ARCHIVES, Jan. 2000, at 1. To measure the
correlation between teacher qualifications and student achievement, Darling-Hammond used
data on public school teacher qualifications and other school inputs available from the 1993
to 1994 Schools and Staffing Surveys (SASS) and data on student achievement and student
characteristics from the 1990, 1992, 1994, and 1996 assessments in reading and mathematics
administered by the National Assessment of Educational Progress. This data was the “basis
for regression analyses of school resource variables on student achievement scores to ex-
amine whether teacher quality indicators, as well as other school inputs, are related to stu-
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to student outcomes at the state level, they are less influential in producing
achievement levels than are variables assessing the quality of the teaching
force.”'** Particularly at those schools where the majority of the student popu-
lation are not learning at grade level and lag behind statewide achievement
standards, a teacher who cannot teach effectively because she does not have the
requisite training or certification only widens the achievement gap. When stu-
dents, such as the plaintiffs in Reed, spend years attending schools that fail to
address their academic needs, the instability that comes with rotating substi-
tutes or unqualified replacement teachers only exacerbates the achievement gap
and produces a population of skeptical students who distrust their teachers’
commitment to their growth."* The “net result” of California LIFO policies in
LAUSD was to “force out” qualified teachers who knew and built relationships
with the students and understood which strategies and methods of learning
worked best for the students at their schools.'3’

Ultimately, the concentration of newer teachers in high-poverty and high-
minority schools, together with the application of LIFO policies to cut the
workforce during budget deficits, produce a disparate impact on the quality of
education received by students in high-poverty and high-minority schools.

D. Cadlifornia’s Seniority System Today

In California, administrative law judges (ALJs) and courts have previously
applied section 44955(d)(1) to deviate from seniority protections.'*® For exam-
ple, the Court of Appeal of California’s Third District found that, during a time
of “economic layoff,” section 44955(d)(1) authorizes a school district to

dent achievement at the state level, after controlling for such student characteristics as pover-
ty and language background.” “Teacher quality variables” constructed from this data:

Include the proportion of “well-qualified teachers,” defined as the proportion holding
state certification and the equivalent of a major (either an undergraduate major or mas-
ters degree) in the field taught. For elementary school teachers, the equivalent of a
major is an elementary education degree for generalists who teach multiple subjects to
the same group of students or a degree in the field taught for specialists (e.g. reading,
mathematics or mathematics education, special education). The proportion of teachers
who are “fully certified” includes teachers with standard or regular certification and
new teachers on probationary certificates who have completed all requirements for a
license except for the completion of the probationary period (usually two or three years
of beginning teaching). The proportion of teachers who are “less than fully certified”
includes teachers with no certificate and those with provisional, temporary, or emergen-
cy certification.

Id.
133 Id. at 32.
134 See Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 22,
135 Id.

136 See generally Bledsoe v. Biggs Unified Sch. Dist., 170 Cal. Rptr. 3d 13 (Cal. App.
2008).
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“skip”'®” a junior employee and terminate an employee with more seniority
when the junior employee possesses specialized training and experience to
meet the specific needs of a school district.'®® In Bledsoe v. Biggs Unified
School District, the court found that the school district had “a specific need” for
teachers with backgrounds working with children with behavioral problems to
teach in a community day school that served a “distinct and difficult popula-
tion” of students who had been “expelled or who had extreme behavior difficul-
ties.”'>® As the retained junior teachers were found to have extensive back-
ground and training in areas such as “mediation, aggression management, and
abuse recognition,” the court held that the district properly skipped two junior
teachers while terminating a senior teacher with fewer specified and desired
skills. 0

Section 44955(d)(2) has never been used in any reported ALJ “decision to
support skipping” by any school district in California.'"*' While section
44955(d)(1), as evidenced in Bledsoe, is a means by which to protect teachers
on a case-by-case basis, the second exception under section 44955(d)(2) may
provide protection for classes of teachers laid off as a result of economic lay-
offs."*? In fact, California has seen a rise in litigation brought under section
44955(d)(2), claiming that economic layoffs based solely upon seniority violate
a student’s right, under the California Constitution, to equity in educational
opportunities.'* Two of these cases are Reed and Vergara v. State of Califor-
nia.'* However, the California courts have yet to resolve the issue decisively.

1. Reed v. State of California, et al.

In February 2010, the ACLU filed a class action suit on behalf of students at
three LAUSD middle schools alleging that LAUSD’s proposed layoff plan for
the 2010-2011 school year violated the California Constitution'*> and other
statutes.'*® Plaintiffs filed the action, Reed v. State, against the State of Califor-

137 “For purposes of a school district reduction in force, ‘skipping’ refers to a junior
teacher being retained for specified reasons.” Id. at 18 n.3 (citing CaL Epuc. Cobpe
§ 44955(b) (West 2011); Alexander v. Bd. of Trustees, 188 Cal. Rptr. 3d 705 (1983)).

138 Bledsoe, 170 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 20.

139 1d, at 24.

140 14, at 25.

141 DowELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 9.

142 See, e.g., Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1.

143 14

144 Id.; First Amended Complaint, supra note 10, at 1.

145 Specifically, the ACLU asserted violations of article I, section 7(a)~(b); article 1V
section 16(a); and article IX, sections 1 and 5 of the California Constitution.

146 Cal. Gov’'t CopE § 11135 (“No person in the State of California shall, on the basis of
race, national origin, ethnic group identification, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, color,
or disability, be unlawfully denied full and equal access to the benefits of, or be unlawfully
subjected to discrimination under, any program or activity that is conducted, operated, or



408 PUBLIC INTEREST LAW JOURNAL [Vol. 23:389

nia, LAUSD, United Teachers of Los Angeles (UTLA), and the Partnership for
LA Schools, an independent educational non-profit organization that operates
seventeen LAUSD schools under an agreement with the school district.'*’
Plaintiffs sought declaratory and injunctive relief, specifically asking that the
court enjoin the defendants from: (1) engaging in RIF layoffs in the 2010-2011
year; (2) implementing future layoffs that exceeded the district average; and (3)
allowing economic layoffs to create a “higher rate of annual teacher turno-
ver.”® Plaintiffs also sought to prevent future harm by asking the court to
provide supplemental educational services and financial resources at the plain-
tiffs’ schools.'*

The complaint alleged that, as a result of the seniority protection in section
44955 and LAUSD’s collective bargaining agreement, LAUSD’s implementa-
tion of layoffs to address its budget shortfall disproportionately impacted
schools which serve high concentrations of low-income students, students of
color, and English learners.'>® At the plaintiffs’ schools, between 46% and 60%
of teachers were sent layoff notices, whereas the district-wide average was
17.9%.">' The complaint alleged that the disproportionately high rates of teach-
er turnover at the plaintiffs’ schools contributed substantially to low academic
achievement because “teacher stability is a key aspect of student achievement
. . . because it is necessary to build trusting student-teacher relationships and
because it helps teachers learn how to teach effectively and within the particu-
lar school community.”'S? It further alleged that efforts of school administrators
to build stable, effective teaching corps were heavily undercut by high turnover
rates.'® Assigning replacement teachers to “courses in which they do not have
the requisite certification or training” further destabilized student academic
achievement,'* short term substitutes were frequently rotated to fill vacancies,
and teachers from the rehire list either refused to accept positions at low per-

administered by the state or by any state agency, is funded directly by the state, or receives
any financial assistance from the state . . . .”); Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at
29-31.

147 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 1. While procedurally, the State of Cali-
fornia, LAUSD, and Partnership for LA Schools had to play the role of defendants, they
ultimately supported the plaintiff’s litigation. These defendants, unlike UTLA, supported
deviating from the LIFO policies, but felt their hands were tied because of LAUSD’s collec-
tive bargaining agreements. In their minds, litigation was the only way to force change.

148 Id. at 32.

149 Id

150 Id.

15! Id. at 3.

152 Id. at 12; see also Aimy & THEOKAS, supra note 8; Now TEACHER PROJECT, supra
note 8; SEPE & Roza, supra note 8.

Serr: & Roza, supra note 98, at 2.
153 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 2.
154 Revised Findings and Order on Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Injunction at 4,
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forming schools, or quit after only a few days because “they [were] not able or
willing to work in the school.”'%?

The plaintiffs argued that as the California courts have recognized that the
state constitution guarantees educational equity and adequacy as a fundamental
right, “any action that has a real and appreciable impact upon the right to basic
educational equity is subject to strict scrutiny” and should be deemed unconsti-
tutional.’®® In the plaintiffs’ case, the disproportionate impact of layoffs and
resulting teacher turnover had a “real and appreciable impact” upon students’
constitutional rights.'>’

The trial court issued a preliminary injunction enjoining LAUSD from im-
plementing any budget-based layoffs of classroom teachers at the plaintiffs’
schools, and held that these classroom teachers “shall not be subject to bump-
ing . . . nor . . . displacement by more senior employees.”'*® The evidence
supported the fmdmg of a “distinct relationship between high teacher turnover
and the quality of educational opportunities afforded” students, and showed
that “high teacher turnover devastates educational opportunity.”'*® Relying on
Butt, Serrano 11,'® and O’Connell v. Superior Court'®', the court found that
the evidence was sufficient to support a finding that the layoff system resulted
in “disparate treatment” with a “real and appreciable impact” on the plaintiffs’
“fundamental interest in education.”'®> The court rejected the argument that the
seniority system furthered a “compelling state interest”:

[TThe Education Code expressly qualifies these seniority rights, allowing
deviations for pedagogical needs and constitutional interests . . . . The
plain language of {§ 44955(d)(2)] clearly applies to a situation in which
layoffs would result in a violation of students’ equal protection rights . . .
LAUSD could not bargain away students’ constitutional rights. In other
words, teachers do not have a vested interest in the application of seniority
in a layoff that will result in an equal protection violation . . . .'%3

Following the preliminary injunction, the court approved a consent decree'®
negotiated among the majority of the parties subject to the suit, extending some

Reed v. State, 2011 WL 10893745 (Cal. Super. Ct. May 13, 2010) (No. BC432420) [herein-
after Revised Findings and Order].

155 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 15-16.

156 Id. at 6.

157 14

158 Revised Findings and Order, supra note 154, at 9.

159 Id. at 4.

160 18 Cal. 3d 728 (1976).

161 141 Cal. App. 4th 1452 (2006).

162 Revised Findings and Order, supra note 154, at 1-2.

163 Id. at 7.

164 “A consent decree is no more than a settlement that contains an injunction.” Reed v.
United Teachers L.A., 145 Cal. Rptr. 3d 454, 457 n.1 (Cal. Ct. App. 2012) (citing In re
Masters Mates & Pilots Pension Plan, 957 F.2d 1020, 1025 (2d Cir. 1992)).
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terms of the preliminary injunction to a “targeted” group of schools beyond
those of the plaintiffs.'%

Although the trial court found sufficient merit in the plaintiffs’ arguments to
warrant a preliminary injunction to temporarily halt LAUSD’s application of
LIFO provisions, the trial court never decided the merits underlying the plain-
tiffs” claims because the majority of parties settled.'®®

All parties except UTLA agreed to the terms of the consent decree.'®” UTLA
appealed the decree to the Court of Appeal of the State of California.'®® The
court reversed and remanded on due process grounds, finding that, “because the
trial court never decided the merits of the Students’ claims, it erred when it
approved the consent decree and entered judgment against UTLA.”'%” On April
8, 2014, the parties reached a new settlement agreement.!” The agreement:

[Clalls for hiring additional assistant principals, counselors and special ed-
ucation support staff, expanding professional development for teachers
and administrators, offering a bonus to retain and recruit principals to
these high-need schools, and selecting experienced mentor teachers from
school staffs. The new programs represent an investment of more than $25
million in the budget proposed by LAUSD Superintendent’s Office on
April 4.'7

However, the agreement does not protect schools from layoffs, thus leaving
open the constitutional questions.'”? As of the time of this Note’s publication,
the trial court has yet to approve the settlement.

2. Vergara v. State of California

In May 2012, a California nonprofit filed a complaint on behalf of students
in four California school districts challenging the constitutionality of five sec-

165 The settlement agreement provided that the plaintiffs’ schools and forty-five schools
(including the twenty-five schools with the highest teacher turnover rates that also displayed
academic improvements, as well as twenty “new schools”) would be deemed targeted
schools and “skipped” in the event of layoffs. The agreement further provided that collabora-
tive efforts would be undertaken to fill teacher vacancies at the targeted schools and imple-
ment programs to retain quality teachers. Settlement Terms, ACLU, http://www.aclu-sc.org/
cases/reed-v-state-of-california/reed-settlement-terms (last visited July 22, 2014).

166 United Teachers, 145 Cal. Rptr. at 328.

167 Press Release, United Teachers L.A., ACLU Settlement: Why the Students Lose (Apr.
2, 2011), available ar http://www.utla.net/reedcase.

168 United Teachers, 145 Cal. Rptr. at 457 n.1.

169 /4, at 17.

170 Press Release, American Civil Liberties Union of S. Cal. Settlement of Reed lawsuit
delivers for students at 37 struggling L.A. schools (Apr. 8, 2014), http://www.aclusocal.org/
pr-reed-settlement/.

171 Id

172 See generally id.
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tions'” of the California Education Code.'”* Among those challenged is section
44955, the LIFO statute.'” The Vergara v. State claims were broader than the
claims in Reed.'”® Reed was an as-applied challenge to LAUSD’s layoff sys-
tem, arguing that the layoff system, as implemented by LAUSD, leads to ineq-
uitable opportunities for students.'”” Thus, as the trial court found, section
44955(d)(2) mandates “skipping” of teachers in the Plaintiffs’ schools, and oth-
er schools similarly situated.'”® Vergara adopted Reed’s argument, but went
further, presenting a facial challenge to the constitutionality of Section 44955
in its entirety.'”

The Vergara complaint alleged that section 44955 violates article I, section 7
and article IV, section 16 of the California Constitution because the statute has
a:

[R]eal and appreciable negative impact on an arbitrary subset of children
of substantially equal age, aptitude, motivation, and ability, depriving
them of substantially equal access to an education sufficient to equip them
with the critical, fundamental tools minimally necessary to compete in the
economic marketplace and to participate in a democratic society.'

The complaint further alleged that, because “both race and wealth are suspect
classes for purposes of evaluating statutes in light of the California Constitu-
tion’s provisions guaranteeing equal protection of the laws,” section 44955 vio-
lates the equal protection provisions, because it “makes the quality of education
for school age children in California a function” of race and wealth.'®' The
plaintiffs requested: (1) declaratory relief stating that the statutes violate the
equal protection provisions of the California Constitution; (2) permanent in-
junctive relief enjoining the enforcement, application or implementation of the
statutes; and (3) permanent injunctive relief enjoining future implementation,
“by law or by contract,” “substantially similar frameworks” to those prescribed
in the statutes.'s?

The Vergara trial concluded on April 2, 2014.'%* On June 10, 2014 the Ver-

173 CaL. Enpuc. Cope §§ 44929.21(b), 44934, 44938(b)(1)—(2), 44944, 44955 (West
2011).

174 First Amended Complaint, supra note 10, at 1.

175 1d

176 14

177 See generally Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1.

178 Revised Findings and Order, supra note 154, at 7.

179 First Amended Complaint, supra note 10, at 17-18.

180 Id. at 22.

181 Jd. at 23-24.

182 PFirst Amended Complaint, supra note 10, at 26.

183 Press Release, Students Matter, Groundbreaking Education Equality Trial, Vergara v.
California, Concludes (Apr. 2, 2014), http://studentsmatter.org/ailec_event/vergara-trial-
day-33/7instance_id=104.
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gara court issued a tentative decision in plaintiffs’ favor.'3* Applying a strict
scrutiny test, the court held California’s LIFO statute uncontituional under the
equal protection clause of the California Constitution and issued an injunction
against the enforcement of the statute. '8’

In issuing its decision the court stated that evidence had shown that Califor-
nia’s LIFO statute provided no exceptions or waivers based on teacher effec-
tiveness, meaning that:

No matter how gifted the junior teacher, and no matter how grossly inef-
fective the senior teacher, the junior gifted one, who all parties agree is
creating a positive atmosphere for his/her students, is separated from them
and a senior grossly ineffective one who all parties agree is harming the
students entrusted to her/him is left in place. The result is classroom dis-
ruption on two fronts, a lose-lose situation. '3

Thus, the court found that that the State of California and California Teach-
ers Association, as defendants, had failed to prove that state as a “compelling
interest in the de facto separation of students from competent teachers, and a
like interest in the de facto retention of incompeted ones.”'®” Plaintiffs howev-
er, had proven by a preponderance of the evidence, that the Section 44955
imposes a “real and appreciable impact on students’ fundamental right to equal-
ity fo education” and a “disproportionate burden on poor and minority stu-
dents.”'38

Unfortunately, it is unlikely that trial court will have the last word. The Cali-
fornia Teachers Association plans to appeal the ruling.'® State Attorney Gener-
al Kamala Harris is currently reviewing the decision with Governor Jerry
Brown to determine whether or not the State will also appeal.'® Thus, what is
and what is not the law will likely remain uncertain until all appeals are ex-
hausted.""

As California’s first lawsuits to address the constitutionality of layoff and
seniority systems, Reed and Vergara set the scene for the broader discussion

184 Tentative Decision at 14, Vergara v. State, 2013 WL 6912923 (Cal. Super. Ct. June
10, 2014) (No. BC484642), available at http://studentsmatter.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/
06/Tenative-Decision.pdf [hereinafter Tentative Decision)].

185 14

186 Id. at 13-14.

187 Id. at 14.

188 Id. at 8.

189 Jennifer Medina, Judge Rejects Teacher Tenure for California, N.Y. Times (June 10,
2014), hitp://www.nytimes.com/2014/06/11/us/california-teacher-tenure-laws-ruled-uncon-
stitutional.htmi?hp&_r=2; see also Interview by Alysha Stein-Manes with Griffin Schein
staff (Feb. 26, 2014). Griffin Schein was hired by Students Matter to handle public relations
for the Vergara trial. See STUDENTS MATTER, http://studentsmatter.org/contact/ (last visited
July 28, 2014).

190 Medina, supra note 189.

191 See generally id.
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about balancing the rights of students against those of educators. At the core of
that discussion is whether states should repeal LIFO statutes entirely, or, at
least, comply with “constitutional requirements related to equal protection of
the laws” by using skipping provisions like section 44955(d)(2).'** This Note
takes the position, however, that while alternatives to repealing LIFO statutes
in their entirety may exist, such alternatives only breed success if stakeholders
put the interests of our children ahead of politics.'*?

E. The Legislative Alternative: How Other States Use Legislation to
Reform Teacher Seniority

California lawmakers have attempted to address seniority reform through
legislation and have thus far failed to effect change using such a mechanism.'**
Responding to this failure, California’s reformers turned to the courts to reform
seniority.!®> Other states take different approaches, some more successful than
others.

In Connecticut, where there is no statutory provision requiring that school
districts conduct layoffs in reverse seniority, almost all collective bargaining
agreements establish layoffs in reverse-seniority order.'”® A 2002 school ac-
countability statute, however, authorizes state officials to intervene in schools
and school districts that are continually “low achieving.”!*” When schools fail
to meet academic performance targets for four consecutive years, the State
Board of Education may take “corrective action” to improve student achieve-
ment.'”® Corrective action may include directing the “transfer and assignment
of teachers and principals.”'® Under these provisions, Hartford Public Schools,
located in the Connecticut county with the lowest median income and greatest
number of minority students, submitted a proposal to the Connecticut State
Board of Education requesting that the board order the district to conduct lay-
offs at the school rather than district level.?°° Hartford Public Schools reasoned
that seniority-based layoffs significantly undermined efforts to improve student
achievement district wide.?®' Rather than intervene, however, the board asked
the teachers union and Hartford Board of Education to enter into mediation.?%?

192 CaL Epuc. CopE § 44955 (West 2011).

193 See infra Section I1I.C.

194 Sawchuk, supra note 3.

195 Id.

196 Conn. GeN. STAT. § 10-223e(e) (2010).

197 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 25.

198 1d. at 26.

199 Id.

200 g, at 28.

201 Id; see also Conn. State Bd. of Educ., Meeting Minutes (Apr. 7, 2010), available at
http://www .sde.ct.gov/sde/lib/sde/pdf/board/minutes2010/minutes_SBE_040710.pdf.

202 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 29.
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The parties, however, failed to come to a resolution.?%?

In New York, the Senate presented and passed a bill which would prohibit
layoffs based solely on seniority and require consideration of other factors such
as teacher effectiveness.?®* However, the assembly killed the bill.?®

Although, like New York, the majority of states with seniority statutes have
failed to muster the necessary votes to reform the statutes; four of these states
successfully passed legislation reforming statutes that school districts to con-
duct layoffs in reverse-seniority order.?®® In June 2011, Illinois Governor Pat
Quinn signed into law bipartisan legislation, supported by the Illinois Federa-
tion of Teachers, the Chicago Teachers Union and the Illinois Education Asso-
ciation, which required school districts to consider student achievement when
making layoff decisions.?”” That same month, Ohio, through its state budget
bill, H.B 153, enacted a provision requiring school districts with collective bar-
gaining agreements®® to use factors other than seniority in layoff and rehiring
decisions.?® In July 2011, Michigan Governor Rich Snyder signed into law
H.B. 4627, requiring school boards to use factors other than seniority in layoff
decisions, unless two employees are considered “equal” using other stan-

203 Id

204 §.B. 3501, 2011 Leg., 234th Sess. (N.Y. 2011) available at http://open.nysenate.gov/
legislation/bill/S3501-2011; NEw TEAacHER ProsicrT, supra note 8, at 11.

205 Id.

206 Mass. GEN. Law. AnN. ch. 71, § 42 (West 2014) (“No teacher with [professional
teacher] status shall be displaced by a more senior teacher with such status in accordance
with the terms of a collective bargaining agreement or otherwise unless the more senior
teacher is currently qualified pursuant to section thirty-eight G for the junior teacher’s posi-
tion.”); MicH. Comp. Laws ANN. § 380.1248 (West 2014) (“[T]he board of a school district
or intermediate school district shall not adopt, implement, maintain, or comply with a policy
that provides that length of service or tenure status is the primary or determining factor in
personnel decisions when conducting a staffing or program reduction or any other personnel
determination resulting in the elimination of a position, when conducting a recall from a
staffing or program reduction or any other personnel determination resulting in the elimina-
tion of a position, or in hiring after a staffing or program reduction or any other personnel
determination resulting in the elimination of a position.”); OHio Riv. Copr ANN.
§ 3399.111 (West 2014) (“Seniority shall not be the basis for a decision to retain a teacher,
except when making a decision between teachers who have comparable evaluations.”).

207 Fact Sheet, Dep’t of Gov. Relations, I1l. Educ. Ass’n, Unions Stand Together to Forge
Historic Education Reform: SB7 Will Keep the Best Teachers in Classrooms and Ensure the
Teachers’ Voice Remains Strong at the Bargaining Table (2011), available at hitp:/fwww.
ieanea.org/media/2011/03/SB7-fact-sheet-4-16.pdf.

208 The bill governs those collective bargaining agreements signed after September 2011.
See Onio Rev. Cope ANN. § 3399.111.

209 Molly Bloom, SB 5 or No, Seniority Is Out of Teacher Layoff Decisions,
StaTElMPACT (Mar. 20, 2012), http://stateimpact.npr.org/ohio/2012/03/20/sb-5-or-no-senior-
ity-is-out-of-teacher-layoff-decisions.
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dards.?'” Most recenly, in June 2012, Massachusetts Governor Deval Patrick
signed S. 2315, “An Act Providing for the Implementation of Education Evalu-
ation Systems in School District,” into law. This bill was a compromise be-
tween the Massachusetts Teachers Association and the nonprofit organization
Stand for Children, and makes job performance a primary factor in staffing
decisions, while allowing unions and school districts to keep their collective
bargaining powers in layoff decisions.?!" Stand for Children was set to sponsor
a November 2012 ballot initiative which would have eliminated seniority from
the state’s public school system.?'? While both sides were mobilized to put up a
fight at the ballot box, “with neither side confident of the outcome,” a decision
to compromise seemed a better alternative.?'

Despite statutes, constitutions, or court holdings compelling adequacy or eq-
uity in educational opportunities, the majority of states with statutes protecting
seniority continue to compete for a balance between protecting the rights of
students and those of educators.”'* While states such as Massachusetts and
Michigan can serve as examples for states that seek to reform seniority, the fact
remains that the political and economic climates of each state are different. If
all stakeholders cannot be a part of the debate and learn to compromise, the
seniority status quo will remain as it is, or reforms will look to the courts for
answers.

III. ARGUMENT

The LIFO policies in LAUSD, across California, and in many other states
generate inadequate and inequitable opportunities for poor and minority stu-
dents.?!® The instability created by high teacher turnover, a barrage of substitute
teachers, and “misassigned” teachers make it impossible for students at those
schools deeply impacted by layoffs to learn, let alone “catch up” to their peers
at schools with stable teaching populations and teachers who are adequately
prepared to teach in the subject arca and grade level to which they are as-
signed.?®

Where states like California deem education a fundamental right and their
state constitutions, as interpreted by the courts, mandate equity or adequacy in
educational opportunities, they fall short of fulfilling their responsibilities when

210 MicH. Comp. Laws ANN. § 380.1248.

211 Jamie Vaznis, Unions Won’t Oppose Teacher Seniority Measure, Bos. GLOBE, June
21, 2012, at B1; WWLP TV, Teacher Performance to Trump Seniority, ONPoLITIX (June 21,
2012, 6:19 PM), http://massachusetts.onpolitix.com/news/125118/wwlp-teacher-performace-
to-trump-seniority-cl.

212 Vaznis, supra note 211, at B1.

213 1d.

214 See supra text accompanying notes 105-114.

215 See supra Section 11.C.

216 See supra Section 11.C.
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they fail to provide the same educational tools and opportunities to all children.
While LIFO statutes may not in themselves be unconstitutional,?!” as it stands
today, states that guarantee students adequate or equitable educational opportu-
nities and simultaneously adhere to strict applications of LIFO statutes produce
disparate impacts on poor and minority students. These disparate impacts are
unconstitutional. As such, states, school districts, teachers unions and other
stakeholders must work together to find solutions to rebalance the rights of
students and teachers to fit more comfortably within each state’s constitutional
framework.

A. California Must Utilize a More Rigorous Application of Section
44955(d)(2)

California has a constitutional duty to ensure that it provides adequate and
equitable educational opportunities to its children as educational opportunities
“are among the privileges and immunities that may not be granted to some
citizens or classes of citizens but not provided on the same terms to all citi-
zens.”?'® California fails to meet this duty when it allows school districts across
the state, and particularly in LAUSD, to layoff its teachers in disproportionate
percentages across schools. Where only forty-six to sixty percent of teaching
staff were RIFed at three middle schools in low-income and high-minority
communities, as compared to 17.9% district-wide and one to seven percent in
more affluent communities, children cannot receive equitable opportunities.*'
Thus, to the extent that California’s LIFO statute results in higher layoffs in
high-poverty and high-minority schools, California must at the very least allow
school districts to deviate from seniority when issuing pink slips, pursuant to
section 44955(d)(2)’s exception.??°

Section 44955(d)(2) reads that, “[flor purposes of maintaining or achieving
compliance with constitutional requirements related to equal protection of the
laws,” a district may deviate from termination in order of reverse-seniority.?'
Butt held that the California Constitution requires the state to correct disparities
the “system of common schools, even when the discriminatory effect was not
produced by the purposeful conduct of the State or its agents.”*** While a find-
ing of disparity is case specific, the statistics presented by LAUSD confirm a
vast disparity between schools.??*> The LIFO policies create an “arbitrary dis-

217 The Vergara plaintiffs, however, argue otherwise.

218 Third Amended Complaint, supra note 1, at 30.

219 See supra notes 115-119 and accompanying text.

220 See supra notes 160—163 and accompanying text.

221 CaL. Epuc. CopEk §44955 (West 2011).

222 Butt v. State, 842 P.2d 1240, 1249 (Cal. 1992). Butt only addresses the state role in
fixing interdistrict disparities, and fails to address the state or local rules governing such
disparities.

223 See supra notes 108—119 and accompanying text.
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tinction between schools that provide their students with the prevailing state-
wide standard education (or better) and schools in which students are more
likely to receive their education from one or more grossly ineffective teach-
ers.”*** California has no “compelling interest in creating such arbitrary distinc-
tions” or in passing or maintaining laws which have a substantial impact on
children’s fundamental right to equitable educational opportunities.’?
Although overruled on procedural grounds, the trial court in Reed prelimina-
rily found for the plaintiffs on the merits, finding an as-applied constitutional
violation:
The Legislature clearly qualified teachers’ interest in seniority-based lay-
offs to accommodate constitutional equal protection interests. . . . LAUSD
[cannot] bargain away students’ constitutional rights. In other words,
teachers do not have a vested interested [sic] in the application of seniority
in a layoff that will result in an equal protection violation and a school
district does not have discretion to violate students’ fundamental right to
equal educational opportunity.??®

The court found no compelling state interest justifying the defendants’ con-
duct.?’

The trial court’s holding in Reed applies with equal force to all states whose
constitutions afford a duty to provide children with equitable or educational
opportunities. While few states have “skipping” exceptions to their seniority
statutes,”® the courts have the “power to override both statutory and contractual
seniority rights to remedy the violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights.”?%
Thus, even if the California legislature “contemplated” the need to skip teach-
ers to prevent equal protection violations of students’ fundamental right to edu-
cation, notwithstanding the skipping provision, the courts possess the authority
to deem a statute or contract unconstitutional, as-applied or to repeal it in its
entirely.

224 First Amended Complaint, supra note 10, at 20.

225 1q

226 Revised Findings and Order, supra note 154, at 7.

227 Id.

228 The other states are Alaska, Oregon, and Tennessee. See DOWELL, ET AL., supra note
4, at 3.

229 Revised Findings and Order, supra note 154, at 8 (citing Arthur v. Nyguist, 712 F.2d
816, 822-23 (2d Cir. 1983) (affirming an injunction overriding statutory seniority-layoff
rights to protect students’ constitutional rights); Oliver v. Kalamazoo Bd. of Educ, 706 F.2d
757, 763-64 (6th Cir. 1983) (stating that the court may hold statuary seniority rights unen-
forceable to vindicate students’ constitutional rights); Morgan v. O’Bryant, 617 F.2d 23,
27-29 (st Cir. 1982) (affirming an injunction to protect students’ constitutional rights by
prectuding use of a seniority-based layoff system in a collective bargaining agreement);
Bolin v. San Bernardino City Unified Sch. Dist., 155 Cal. App. 3d 759, 767 (Cal. Ct. App.
1984) (“The expectation of being assigned to a particular school on the basis of seniority is
not a protected right. Seniority is merely an economic right which can be bargained away.”).
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This ability to repeal a statute in its entirety holds true in California as well,
as evidenced by the Vergara court’s tentative decision.*® While the California
courts should find at a minimum that, where budget-based layoffs dispropor-
tionately impact high-poverty and high-minority schools, skipping is allowed
under section 44955(d)(2), the California Court of Appeals should go further
and uphold the Vergara decision deeming California’s LIFO statute facially
unconstitutional.>>! California is an example of a state whose education code
provides an exception to address situations where districts deviate from seniori-
ty on state constitutional grounds; yet this exception is rarely, if ever, in-
voked.?*? Given the disproportionate number of new teachers working in low-
income and high-minority communities, school districts can easily find many
reasons to use California’s skipping exception; this would, however, effectively
render seniority provisions obsolete in times of budget-based layoffs. Teachers
unions have not allowed this to occur.?*® The unions will not allow it to occur
in the future.?** Thus, where districts, teachers unions, and legislators cannot
find a middle ground to ensure the maintenance of an adequate or equitable
education system, LIFO statutes should be held facially unconstitutional.

B. Cualifornia and Other States Can Find a Middle Ground to Address the
Disproportion Impact of Layoffs on Poor and Minority Students™®

While courts retain power to deem LIFO statutes unconstitutional, as demon-
strated by the recent Vegara decision,?*® the need to involve courts in reform is
lessened if stakeholders can find alterative ways to administer layoffs. Most
states with LIFO statutes do not have skipping exceptions like California’s sec-
tion 44955(d)(2).37 While legislatures may attempt to amend LIFO statutes to
include skipping exceptions, there are other routes to consider as well. Current-
ly, strict applications of LIFO statutes when conducting layoffs fail to take
teacher quality into account—Ilayoffs are quality-blind.**® Quality-blind layoffs
rid districts of teachers who may not only be better equipped to serve particular
student populations, but purge districts of teachers who want to teach in these

230 Tentative Decision, supra note 184, at 13-14.

231 Id. at 14.

232 DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 9.

233 See infra Section III.C.

234 1d.

235 While this subsection suggests three alternatives to a skipping exception or complete
repeal of LIFO provisions, it recognizes that there are alternatives or variances to the sugges-
tions set forth.

236 Tenative Decision, supra note 184, at 13-14.

237 See DOWELL ET AL., supra note 4, at 9.

238 Tentative Decision, supra note 184, at 13; New TeAcHER ProJEcT, A SMARTER
TeAcHER Layorr Systim: How QuarLiTy-Basep Lavorrs CaN Heip ScHoors Keep
GRrEAT TEACHERS IN TougH Economic Times (2010), available at http://tntp.org/assets/doc-
uments/TNTP_Smarter_Teacher_Layoffs_Marl0.pdf.
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environments.?>® Thus, one alternative to adhering to the use of strict seniority
in layoff decisions is to amend statutes or collective bargaining agreements to
weigh other factors, such as teacher quality, teacher attendance and student
performance,?*® when making layoff decisions.

After surveying teachers to come up with an alternative,?*! the New Teacher
Project (TNTP) suggests one such quality-based teacher model.?*> TNTP creat-
ed a scorecard of five factors: (1) Classroom Management Rating, (2) Attend-
ance, (3) Performance Rating, (4) Length of Service to the District, and (5)
Extra School Responsibilities.?** The first, second, third, and fifth factors
would take into account a period of three years.?** Each factor is also weighted
differently, with the greatest weight placed in the most recent year and per-
formance evaluation category.*

Another, albeit less holistic, alternative to district-wide layoffs, is to make
layoffs at the school-wide level. Schools would conduct layoffs based solely on
years of service, but the pool of teachers taken into account is only the teaching
staff at the individual school. The school district would determine what per-
centage of its teaching staff it needs to pink slip, and each school would be
responsible for a percentage of the cut. Schools would then determine
ticbreakers based on performance. While this solution would still rid schools of
the newer teachers, and therefore this Note does not recommend this alternative
ahead of more holistic alternatives, it does shield schools with larger popula-
tions of newer teachers from having their teaching staffs decimated.

239 See infra notes 103-108 and accompanying text.

240 Measured over a period of years for growth, rather than by performance within a
single year.

241 The New Teacher Project describes its methodology as based on surveys and conver-
sations with teachers in urban Midwest school districts:

In spring 2009, TNTP conducted surveys of teachers in two large, urban school districts

in the Midwest. TNTP surveyed 1,697 teachers in District A and 7,602 in District B—

response rates of 75 percent and 34 percent, respectively. Both districts serve a diverse

student body with at least 79 percent of students from low-income families, yet vary
considerably in size. One district has an enrollment of roughly 34,000 students (District

A) while the other has over 100,000 students (District B). Teachers in District A are

represented by an affiliate of the National Education Association. Teachers in District B

are represented by an affiliate of the American Federation of Teachers. In one of the

study districts, layoffs were planned for the coming school year and had been an-
nounced at the time teachers were surveyed. Both districts use quality-blind layoff poli-
cies, basing layoff decisions within each license area strictly on seniority-years of
teaching experience in the district.
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Lastly, legislators can work with stakeholders to draft and pass legislation
reforming the use of seniority in making staffing decisions. Illinois, Massachu-
setts, Michigan, and Ohio are examples of successful stakeholder collaboration
to ensure that layoff decisions consider factors other than seniority.?*® In states
where stakeholders express a willingness to collaborate and compromise, they
should be used as models for success. This legislative alterative, however, may
not work in states where teachers unions refuse to buy into the reform debate.
In the end, however—as evidence by California’s lack of application of section
44955(d)(2)—even if states can write skipping exceptions into their education
statutes, repeal seniority provisions all together, or successfully amend legisla-
tion, politics can still manage to get in the way of the law. Just as states promul-
gate state-based social legislation based on its populus’ needs, so too must
states address their educational inequities in response to their individual politi-
cal climates.

C. Legal Action is California’s Best Short-Term Remedy in a Political
Climate Where Legislative Reform Has Too Many Enemies

California’s best pathway to seniority reform is through the legal system.?*’
This holds true in any state in which the local, state or national teachers unions
represent a strong lobbying force seeking to thwart legislative reform.?8 In
California, the California Teachers Association (CTA) is one of the state’s most
powerful lobbyist groups.?* From 2000 to 2009, CTA “outpaced all other spe-
cial interests, including corporate players such as . . . AT&T and the Chevron
oil company,” spending more than $211 million in political contributions and
lobbying expenses.”*® From 2009 to 2012 CTA spent approximately forty mil-
lion dollars, investing $4.7 million in then-democratic candidate for Governor
Jerry Brown’s election campaign.?*' CTA’s influence over Governor Brown’s
policies is readily apparent with CTA’s chief lobbyist instrumental in hashing
out the details of the 20112012 state budget.?* The Los Angeles Times sug-
gests that CTA’s influence is:

[Wiritten directly into California’s Constitution. More than two decades
ago, the group drafted an initiative to guarantee public schools at least
40% of the general fund and waged a successful multimillion-dollar cam-
paign for it . . . CTA has ferociously guarded a set of hard won tenure
rules and seniority protections, repeatedly beating back attempts by educa-
tion groups to overturn those measures, increase teacher accountability

246 See supra notes 207-213 and accompanying text.
247 Mishak, supra note 21 at Al.
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and introduce private school vouchers. It has thwarted the agendas of gov-
emors and even President Obama, whose administration has tried and
failed to enlist California in its effort to make sweeping changes in the
country’s education system.?53

CTA and California’s local unions blocked attempts to pass SB 355, a bill
that would allow school districts to conduct layoffs based on performance.?**
Disagreeing with California’s attempts to reform teacher accountability, the
union blocked California’s chance at securing federal RTTT grant funding
when it refused to sign onto the State’s grant application.”> CTA even blocked
SB 1530, a bill that would have made it easier to fire teachers in cases of sexual
abuse or other “egregious” misconduct.”®® CTA objected to giving school
boards more power in the dismissal decision than permitted by the current dis-
missal process.?’

The silence surrounding the recent Vergara decision is further evidence of
CTA’s deep pockets. Governor Brown, Attorney General Harris and Lieutenant
Governor Gavin Newsom have all failed to comment on the historic deci-
sion.?*® While California State Superintended Tom Torlakson, who is up for
reclection in November, did comment, his statement parallels CTA and its la-
bor partners’ viewpoint: with the CTA: “Attracting, training, and nurturing tal-
ented and dedicated educators are among the most important tasks facing every
school district, tasks that require the right mix of tools, resources, and expertise.
Today’s ruling may inadvertently make this critical work even more challeng-
ing than it already is.”?® As the CTA and its “allies in labor are a predominant
source of money for both Gov. Brown and down-ballot Democrats in the
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state. . . . To speak out in favor of the decision would set off a major rift. To
speak out against it would undermine their standing as education reformers.”?%
Conversely, retiring Democratic Representaitve George Miller has come out in
favor of the decision, recognizing that the evidence presented at trial supported
plaintiffs’ claims of disparate impact and the need for reform.?®' These politi-
cians who have their sights set on their political careers and who rely on the
teachers unions to make those careers a reality, “don’t want to bite the hand
that feeds them.”?6?

CTA views itself as the “co-equal fourth branch of government.”?®* With its
big budget and political clout, “CTA is going to be around regardless” of who
is sitting in the governor’s chair or which political party runs the legislature.?%*
Thus, while CTA and the local unions remain influential, legal action remains
California’s best solution to education reform. It is the duty of the courts to
hand down decisions based soley on “the evidence and the law” and not the
political interests of education stakeholders.?® The Vergara court upheld this
duty. This reform should must continue with with the affirmation of the uncon-
stitutionality of California’s LIFO statute, setting precedent for other states
courts to follow suit and hold the same their comparable LIFO statutes.

IV. ConcLUSION

Where states guarantee their children the right to equitable or adequate edu-
cation opportunities, the strict applications of LIFO statutes encroach upon stu-
dents’ constitutionally mandated rights. Reliance on teacher seniority systems
and LIFO provisions are outdated and only widen the achievement gaps that
currently exists between high-minority, low-income communities and low-mi-
nority, high-income communities. The protections afforded to more “exper-
ienced” teachers should not operate so as to disregard the guaranteed rights of
our students, or the hard work of newer teachers. Teachers unions, educators,
legislators and other stakeholders must recognize that the goal of teaching is to
ensure that all students receive a quality, or even adequate, education, in order
to enable them to succeed and compete in the job market. Systems that function
only to hurt our students cannot achieve this goal.

All stakeholders must come to the table to reform teacher seniority and
LIFO-based staffing systems. If all stakeholders cannot join in the debate and
learn to compromise, the status quo will remain unchanged. Otherwise, reform-
ers will look to the courts for answers, as California has done. While Califor-
nia’s choice of impact litigation may be one way to address the unconstitution-
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ality of putting the statutory rights of teachers before the constitutional rights of
our students—and if ultimately successful, set precedent for future challenges
to the disproportionate provision of education opportunities amongst out stu-
dents—reform efforts will be slow and grim without buy-in from all education
stakeholders. At the end of the day, however, our education systems must put
the needs of students first, and whatever method is utilized to improve the bro-
ken seniority systems is a necessary step to ensure the attainment of adequacy
or equity that states promise our children.






